IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC10-1275

RONALD WAYNE HENDRICKS,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Wm. J. Sheppard, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 109154 D. Gray Thomas, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 956041

Sheppard, White, Thomas & Kachergus, P.A.

215 Washington Street

Jacksonville, Florida 32202
Telephone: (904) 356-9661
Facsimile: (904) 356-9667
Email: sheplaw@att.net
COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Page</u>
TABLE OF CONTENTS i
TABLE OF CITATIONSii
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 1
ARGUMENT2
Ι.
THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO RESOLVE THE FIRST DISTRICT'S EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE SECOND DISTRICT ON AN IMPORTANT AND RECURRING ISSUE IN FLORIDA CRIMINAL TRIALS
CONCLUSION8
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 9

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>Case(s)</u> <u>. Page</u>
Avila v. State, 781 So.2d 413 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2001)
Barrow v. State, 27 So.3d 211 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2010)
Bradley v. State, 513 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1987)
Culvert v. State, 569 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1990)
Curtis v. State, 480 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1985)
Farrow v. State, 573 So.2d 161 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1990) (en banc)
Hazuri v. State, 23 So.3d 857 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009)
Ivory v. State, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977)
LaMonte v. State, 145 So.2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962)2,3,5,6
<i>Thomas v. State</i> , 730 So.2d 667 (Fla. 1998)
White v. State, 31 So.3d 816 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010)

TABLE OF CITATIONS (Continued)

	Page
Statutes and Rules	
Fla.R.App.P. 3.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)	
Florida Constitution	
Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(3), Fla. Const	3

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Ronald Wayne Hendricks was charged with four counts of sexual battery on a child less than 12 years of age. He was convicted at trial of two counts as charged and one count of a lesser-included offense of simple battery, and was acquitted of the fourth count. He was sentenced to two consecutive terms of life imprisonment, plus one year. The alleged victim and sole prosecution witness was the daughter of his former girlfriend, with whom he had lived for several years. She made allegations after achieving adulthood of conduct having occurred years earlier. App. 2. In his defense, Hendricks testified, denying that he committed any of the charged offenses, and he also presented testimony from multiple witnesses of his good reputation in the community for truth and veracity. Two proffered character witnesses would also have testified that he had a good reputation for sexual morality, but the trial court precluded that testimony. App. 2-3.

On appeal, Hendricks challenged the trial court's exclusion of evidence of his reputation for sexual morality; the manner in which the court permitted one or more questions from the jury to Hendricks and the court's own cross-examination of Hendricks; an improper closing argument by the prosecutor; and the trial court's failure to follow the procedure required by Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410 in responding to a question from the jury during deliberations and failing to inform the jury of the

availability of a read-back of testimony. The First District followed dicta from the Third and Fifth Districts in affirming the exclusion of the proffered character evidence, but recognized that the majority of cases from multiple other jurisdictions allows such evidence. App. 6-14. The court noted that no Florida court had previously decided whether "a person accused of child molestation may or may not introduce evidence of his reputation for sexual morality for the purpose of showing he does not have the character trait necessary for committing acts of child molestation." App. at 6.

The district court also found no reversible error in the manner in which the trial court failed to allow Hendricks an opportunity to participate in a determination of what action to be taken in response to a jury's request to view a portion of the trial transcript, its negative response to the request, and its failure to inform jurors that a read-back of the requested testimony was possible. App. 14-28.

The court denied Hendricks' motion for rehearing and for certification of the character evidence issue as one of great public importance. *See* App. 1. However, the court below withdrew its previous opinion and issued a substitute opinion further expounding on the character evidence issue, App. 12-13 n.1, and expressly noted its conflict with the Second District's holding that an erroneous and

misleading refusal to allow a read-back constitutes fundamental error, stating, "We disagree with *LaMonte* [v. *State*, 145 So.2d 889, 893 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962)]" App. 26-27. Hendricks filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on June 24, 2010, and this jurisdictional brief follows.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court of Florida has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of either the supreme court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. *See* Art V., Sec. 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the First District below expressly and directly conflicts with the Second District's decision in *LaMonte*. The opinion below also conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Ivory v. State*, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977) and *Bradley v. State*, 513 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1987), in which defense counsel were deprived of an opportunity to make objections and argument on how to respond to a jury request during deliberations, which the record reflects was the case in Hendricks' trial.

The trial court in this case also affirmatively misled the jury into believing that a read-back was impermissible. As a result, the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on an important question arising routinely and widely throughout the state during criminal jury trials. Accordingly, the Court should accept jurisdiction and grant review in this case, and in doing so should further address the important character evidence issue on which the First District expressly rejected the views of the majority of jurisdictions to have addressed the issue.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO RESOLVE THE FIRST DISTRICT'S EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE SECOND DISTRICT ON AN IMPORTANT AND RECURRING ISSUE IN FLORIDA CRIMINAL TRIALS.

The Court should grant review on the basis of the First District's express and direct conflict in this case with the law of the Second District as to whether a violation of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410 constitutes reversible error where the trial court did not permit trial counsel an opportunity to be heard on a jury request to review a portion of trial testimony. A number of decisions, including recently, have addressed the importance and standard of review applicable to a Rule 3.410 error

during trial deliberations when jurors request additional instructions or reading of testimony. The pertinent decisions further address circumstances, such as occurred in this case, where the lay jury requested to see a portion of the "transcript," not understanding that trial testimony rarely has been transcribed by the time the jury deliberates and trial court's response failing to apprise the jury that testimony may be read back under Rule 3.410. The First District's opinion in this case, that these errors can never constitute fundamental error, despite going to the heart of the jury's deliberative process, expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Second District in *LaMonte v. State*, 145 So.2d 889, 893 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962). App. 27 ("We disagree with *LaMonte*.")

Further, the decision below also conflicts with this Court's decisions that hold that the mere fact that counsel for the defendant was present when the trial court considered the jury request is not sufficient to excuse the error and prevent *per se* reversal. *See Bradley v. State*, 513 So.2d 112, 114 (Fla. 1987) (more than the mere presence of counsel is required), *citing, Ivory v. State*, 351 So.2d 26, 28 (Fla. 1977); *Curtis v. State*, 480 So.2d 1277, 1278, n.2 (Fla. 1985). A "participation process" is necessary at the stage of a jury question during deliberations "to determine whether prejudice has occurred during one of the most sensitive stages of the trial." *Culvert v. State*, 569 So.2d 433, 435 (Fla. 1990).

This Court has held that a Rule 3.410 violation constitutes *per se* reversible error. *Bradley*, 513 So.2d at 112-13. *See also, White v. State*, 31 So.3d 816, 818 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010) (finding ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failing to raise a Rule 3.410 violation on direct appeal).

The Second District concluded that the trial court's refusal to have testimony read to the jury on its request during deliberations constitutes fundamental error in a case where the evidence was not overwhelming and the requested testimony was material to the verdict. *LaMonte*, 145 So.2d at 893. Where the testimony sought to be reviewed by the jury is material to the outcome of its deliberations, such an error necessarily injuriously affects the substantial rights of the defendant. *Id.* This is particularly so where the evidence cannot at all be described as overwhelming, but rather constitutes the uncorroborated testimony of a single prosecution witness, as in this case.

In *Farrow v. State*, 573 So.2d 161 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (*en banc*), the court held that an instruction during *voir dire* that no testimony would be read back after being given did not constitute fundamental error. *Id.* at 163. However, that instruction was given before trial, with ample opportunity for an objection and subsequent cure. Furthermore, the erroneous instruction can "penetrate[] the sanctity of the jury room and intimidate[] the jury." *Id.* at 164 (Garrett, J.,

dissenting). The instruction "prevents a complete airing of the merits of a case and strikes at the very foundation of a jury trial...the deliberation process." *Id.* (Garrett, J., dissenting).

The court below further construed the conflicting decisions regarding the trial court instructions misleading juries as to the availability of a partial read-back of testimony in *Avila v. State*, 781 So.2d 413, 415-16 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), in contrast with *Hazuri v. State*, 23 So.3d 857 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), which was repudiated and certified as a conflicting decision by *Barrow v. State*, 27 So.3d 211, 216-18 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). *Hazuri* held that the jury's request for a "transcript" did not even implicate the possibility of a read-back. 23 So.3d at 859-60. With a jury of laypersons, such a distinction elevates form over substance and constitutes "niggling nitpicking." *Id.* at 861 (Cope, J., dissenting). The *Barrow* court agreed with Judge Cope's dissent in *Hazuri*. 27 So.3d at 218 n.2. App. 20-23. The First District found that because Hendricks' trial counsel failed to object, the error was not preserved for appeal and did not constitute fundamental error. App. at 28.

The Court should grant review to resolve the conflicts in Florida decisional law presented herein with respect to an important issue that arises commonly in criminal trials during the crucial process of jury deliberations. The trial court reacted to the jury's request without allowing trial counsel a meaningful

opportunity to address the request, and counsel did not affirmatively agree to the court's actions as did counsel in *Thomas v. State*, 730 So.2d 667, 668 (Fla. 1998), wherein counsel's agreement precluded a finding of reversible error. The trial court in this case further misled the lay jury by failing to advise it of the availability of a read-back. In a close swearing contest case with no corroborating evidence of the accusations, such as this one, the error pierced the integrity of the deliberative process. Accordingly, the Court should grant view on the basis of this important and recurring issue as to which express and direct conflict exists.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the merits of the issues on appeal in this case.