IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD WAYNE HENDRICKS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC10-1275

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

EDWARD C. HILL, Jr.
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 238041

MICHAEL T. KENNETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 177008

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE (S)
TABLE OF CONTENTSi
TABLE OF CITATIONSii
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS1
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT3
ARGUMENT4
ISSUE
DOES THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION IN <i>LaMonte V. State</i> , 145 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962)4
CONCLUSION9
SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE9
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE10

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>PAGE(S)</u>
STATE CASES
Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1958)5
Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. National Adoption Counseling, 498 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1986)5
Garzon v. State, 939 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)
Garzon v. State, 980 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 2008)7
Gibson v. Maloney, 231 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 1970)5
Hendricks v. State, 34 So. 3d 819 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010)passim
Hunter v. State, 8 So. 3d 1052 (Fla. 2008)7
Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980)4, 5
LaMonte v. State, 145 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962)passim
Nicholson v. State, 33 So. 3d 107 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010)7
Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986)4
Sparks v. State, 740 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)8
State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1991)7
DOCKETED CASES
Calloway v. State, Case No. 1D08-2987 (Fla. 1st DCA Apr. 28, 2010)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Ronald Wayne Hendricks, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name. "PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number. A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, *Hendricks v. State*, 34 So. 3d 819 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010).

The State of Florida charged the Petitioner with "four counts of sexual battery on a child less than twelve years of age." Hendricks at 821. As to Counts I and II, the jury found the Petitioner guilty as charged; as to Count III, the jury found the Petitioner guilty of the lesser included offense of battery; as to Count IV, the jury found the Petitioner not guilty. Ibid at 821-22.

The Petitioner's assertion of express and direct conflict pertains a juror request to review a transcript of the victim's testimony regarding the allegation contained in Count III. See *Hendricks* at 820 ("Appellant argues that the trial court fundamentally erred in

denying the jury's request to view a portion of the transcript without advising the jury that it could request a 'read-back.'"); see also ibid at 832 ("In this case, the testimony the jury requested was material to count III."); see also PJB-4:

The Court should grant review on the basis of the First District's express and direct conflict in this case with the law of the Second District as to whether a violation of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410 constitutes reversible error where the trial court did not permit trial counsel an opportunity to be heard on a jury request to review a portion of trial testimony.

The decision below describes the victim's testimony regarding the allegation contained in Count III as follows:

In testifying about this offense, the victim stated that this memory bothered her, that it was "probably ... the hardest for [her] to talk about," that it disturbed her, and that it was "horribly vivid in [her] head." The incident occurred on the bed Appellant shared with the victim's mother, and the victim recalled that Appellant first attempted to "force ... his penis into [her] vagina" and that "it wasn't working because [she] was so small." She explained that he then "started rubbing ... his penis against [her] vagina until ... he ejaculated on [her]."

Hendricks at 821.

During deliberations, the jury submitted the following, written request to the trial court: "May we see the transcript of the testimony of [the victim] regarding the third charge related to the allegation about [Appellant's] placing his penis on [the victim] and ejaculating[?]" Hendricks at 821.

Outside the presence of the jury but in the presence of the parties, the trial court stated: "I think the answer is no, rely on your memory." Hendricks at 821. Neither Petitioner's counsel nor the

prosecutor lodged any objection. *Ibid*. The trial court then brought the jury into the courtroom and informed the jury as follows: "Ladies and gentlemen, I have your question about the transcript, and the short answer is, no. You have to rely on your recollection and reach your decision based on that. Thank you." *Ibid*. The jury retired to the deliberation and, regarding Count III, returned with a verdict of guilty as to the lesser included offense of battery. *Ibid*.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner fails to satisfy the jurisdictional requirement for express and direct conflict because the Petitioner fails to establish any conflict between the actual decisions at issue. In the case at bar, the First District examined the record as a whole and determined that fundamental error did not occur during the Petitioner's trial. Under a completely different set of facts, the Second District examined the record as a whole in the case of LaMonte v. State, 145 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962) and determined that fundamental error did occur. However, in the absence of a per se rule, the fact that one court found fundamental error when the other did not does not necessarily mean that the two decisions expressly and directly conflict on the same question of law.

ARGUMENT ISSUE

DOES THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION IN LaMonte V. State, 145 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962)? (Restated)

The Petitioner contends that this Court enjoys jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V, $\S 3(b)(3)$, Fla. Const. Compare Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)

The discretionary jurisdiction of the supreme court may be sought to review... decisions of the district courts of appeal that... expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

with Article V, §3(b)(3):

The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

In order to qualify as express and direct, the conflict must remain readily apparent simply by examining the four corners of the majority decisions at issue; a petitioner cannot rely upon the record, a concurring opinion, or a dissenting opinion in order to establish conflict jurisdiction. See Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986) ("Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction."); see also Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) ("[T]he language and expressions found in a

dissenting or concurring opinion cannot support jurisdiction under section 3(b)(3) because they are not the decision of the district court of appeal."). Additionally, inherent or implied conflict cannot suffice. See Department of Health and Rehabilitative

Services v. National Adoption Counseling, 498 So. 2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986) ("[I]nherent or so called 'implied' conflict may no longer serve as a basis for this Court's jurisdiction."). Furthermore, the decisions themselves must conflict; conflicting opinions or the reasons therefor remain insufficient as well. See Jenkins at 1359, quoting Gibson v. Maloney, 231 So. 2d 823, 824 (Fla. 1970) ("[I]t is conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari.").

Far from an arbitrary rule, the requirement for express and direct conflict: (1) prevents the District Courts of appeal from devolving into intermediate courts of appeal; and, (2) preserves this Court's ability to devote its limited resources to maintaining uniformity of decisions. See Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958):

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. The revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

In the case *sub judice*, the Petitioner fails to satisfy the jurisdictional requirement for express and direct conflict amongst decisions. Although the decision below expresses its disagreement with the Second District's decision in *LaMonte v. State*, 145 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962), the First District declined to declare express and direct conflict. See *Hendricks* at 831 ("We disagree with *LaMonte."*).

In reaching its decision below, the First District faulted the Second District for failing to consider "the possibility that defense counsel's silence may have been strategic." Hendricks at 831. Given the evidence adduced at trial, the First District concluded a readback of the requested testimony might have hurt the defense case by clarifying a point of apparent ambiguity or dispute; consequently, the First District declined to find the existence of fundamental error. See ibid at 832:

The facts of the instant case illustrate the point that the failure of a defense attorney to request instructions on the availability of a read-back may be strategic. case, the testimony the jury requested was material to count III. However, the testimony was detailed, descriptive, and disturbing, and if the jury remembered and believed that testimony, it established the crime of sexual battery on a child. See §794.011(1)(h), Florida Statutes (1993) (defining sexual battery, in pertinent part, as "oral, anal, or vaginal penetration by, or union with, the sexual organ of another") (emphasis added). Additionally, the testimony included the victim's statements that she had a vivid memory about this incident and that it was the offense that bothered her the most. While we do not know the defense counsel's reasons for failing to request that the jury be informed that this testimony could be read back, we cannot ignore the fact that defense counsel may have believed that it was not in

Appellant's best interests to have this testimony emphasized. For this reason, we decline to find fundamental error in the trial court's failure to advise the jury, sua sponte, of the availability of a read-back at the court's discretion.

In other words, the First District examined the record as a whole and concluded that the Petitioner failed to meet the "very high threshold" of fundamental error. See Section 924.051(2), Florida Statutes:

A judgment or sentence may be reversed on appeal only when an appellate court determines <u>after a review of the</u> <u>complete record</u> that prejudicial error occurred and was properly preserved in the trial court or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error. (Emphasis added)

See also *Calloway v. State*, Case No. 1D08-2987 *8 (Fla. 1st DCA Apr. 28, 2010) ("Obviously, the only way to determine if error is fundamental is to engage in a weighing process. The defendant would have us circumvent this process and find his proposed error in the jury instructions to be fundamental per se."); see generally *Nicholson v. State*, 33 So. 3d 107, 111-12 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010):

The use of such instructions, however, does not necessarily meet the very high threshold for fundamental error. Garzon v. State, 980 So. 2d 1038, 1045 (Fla. 2008), the Florida Supreme Court stated that absent a misinstruction or failure to instruct on a disputed element of a crime, the proper test for assessing the effect of the instruction is the one set forth in the Fourth District Court's opinion in Garzon v. State, 939 So. 2d 278, 282-83 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), which analyzed the instruction "in the context of the other jury instructions, the attorneys' arguments, and the evidence in the case to decide whether the 'verdict of quilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" 939 So. 2d at 283 (quoting State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 645 (Fla. 1991)); see Hunter v. State, 8 So. 3d 1052, 1070 (Fla. 2008). We find no support for appellant's suggestion the Garzon contextual analysis

should be limited to cases involving a "principal" theory of quilt.

Similar to the decision below, the Second District, when it decided LaMonte, also examined the record as whole. See LaMonte at 893 ("We conclude, therefore, that the trial court erred in refusing the jury's request, and after examination of the entire record, we find that this error injuriously affected the substantial rights of the defendant."). Importantly, the Second District did not hold that the trial court's failure to provide a readback of the requested testimony constitutes fundamental error per se.

In conclusion, the Second District in LaMonte and the First District below each conducted a contextual analysis in order to determine whether or not the trial court's decision to forego a readback of requested testimony constituted fundamental error that completely destroyed the fairness of the proceedings. See generally Sparks v. State, 740 So. 2d 33, 35 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) ("Fundamental error has been defined as error that goes to the essence of a fair and impartial trial, error so fundamentally unfair as to amount to a denial of due process." The First District, under a unique set of facts, examined the record and determined that fundamental error did not occur; the Second District, under a completely different set of facts, examined the record and determined that fundamental error did occur. In the absence of a per se rule, the fact that one court found fundamental error when the other did not does not necessarily mean

that the two decisions expressly and directly conflict on the same question of law. Thus, the Petitioner fails to satisfy the jurisdictional requirement for express and direct conflict.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court decline to exercise jurisdiction.